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            Introduction

         

         I first heard of Jose Manuel Martinez in the spring of 2014. The Associated Press reported that a man accused of murdering nine men over a span of three decades—and suspected of killing many more—was being extradited from Alabama to California. Police believed they had caught a professional hit man.

         At the time, I was an editor for the Los Angeles Times, and I dispatched the paper’s Fresno correspondent seventy miles south down Highway 99 to Tulare County—the heart of California’s farm belt—to see what she could learn. After the report ran, I found I could not stop thinking about his case.

         How could someone get away with murder after murder for more than thirty years while living in a sleepy, close-knit farmworker town where everyone knew everyone else?

         Eventually, Martinez himself would explain it to me. He was “so damn good,” he’d say. He left little evidence and few witnesses.

         This was true but far from the whole story. Martinez, I learned, had been born and raised in California’s vast Central Valley, which stretches about 450 miles down the interior of the state and is one of the richest farming regions in the world. He came from its stark and beautiful southern end, known as the San Joaquin Valley, where the peaks of the Sierra Nevada march upward toward their apex at Mount Whitney and where, down on the valley floor, any notion of California as a progressive, egalitarian land of opportunity disintegrates under the relentless, baking sun.1

         Nearly half the fruits and nuts that Americans eat are grown here, in lavishly irrigated fields that roll out like a green carpet across the once-arid land.2 In the cities and towns of the valley, meanwhile, something terrible has borne fruit: income disparity that is greater than anywhere else in California.3 There are neighborhoods in Visalia and Exeter where those who have grown wealthy off the land live ensconced in homes with infinity pools, butler’s pantries, and en suite bathrooms for every bedroom.4 Just a few miles away, in the towns where the people who do the picking and planting live, homes are often crowded and dilapidated and the water that comes out of the taps is often not safe to drink.5

         This is where John Steinbeck set his Depression-era classic The Grapes of Wrath and where, in the 1960s, Cesar Chavez launched his crusade to organize farmworkers, drawing the support of national politicians, activists, and celebrities. Yet even now, in the third decade of the twenty-first century, the Central Valley, particularly the San Joaquin Valley, remains a disturbing tableau of American inequality.

         Growing up here to witness routine exploitation, shocking violence, and seemingly capricious police officers, Martinez assessed the circumstances and decided murder for hire was a reasonable way to make a living. And his greatest asset as a killer, it became clear to me, was that he had grasped a dark truth about the American justice system: if you kill the “right people”—people who are poor, who are not white, who may be presumed to be criminals themselves, and who don’t have anyone to speak for them—you can get away with it. “El Mano Negra,”6 the Black Hand, as Martinez was known, had found an ideal place to ply his trade.

         Cecilia Camacho, a relative of one of Martinez’s victims, knew this truth as well as Martinez. “There is no follow-through when the [victim] is from Mexico. We didn’t have papers. We didn’t have the means to speak up for ourselves.”7

         It was a familiar refrain. As I dug into the case, I tracked down other family members of Martinez’s victims, their anguish and loss not lessened over the years or decades since their loved ones were killed. But I was struck most by how they had carried their suffering without public protest. Many say they were silenced not so much by fear of El Mano Negra as by the conviction that no one in power—not the police brass or the elected officials or the media—really cared what had happened to their fathers, brothers, husbands, and sons. Or to their communities.

         Year after year, Martinez operated with impunity. In Tulare County, where he lived for decades, officials suspected him of murder after murder and yet never charged him. Next-door Kern County, where he also lived for a time and committed several murders, has one of the highest murder rates in California and one of the lowest murder-solve rates in the nation. Martinez’s hometown of Earlimart—a tightly woven community where people knew each other’s stories and watched out for each other’s children—was also so violent, some nicknamed it “Murdermart.” In other places, Martinez killed people in out-of-the-way areas and then vanished before anyone thought to look for him.

         Eventually, after speaking with victims’ family members and the police officers who investigated those cases, I reached out to Martinez himself. I addressed a letter to him, care of the jail where he was awaiting trial. I have written many such letters to prisons in my years as a reporter, and I knew better than to expect a response. But a few weeks later, my phone rang.

         “How are you?” Martinez asked me. I was flustered, then stunned, as so many police officers had been before me, by how personable this cold-blooded killer sounded. “What do you want to know?”

         At that point, I knew only the broad outlines of Martinez’s story. I knew he had killed many people in a place where justice had always been in short supply. I also knew from police that he was a devoted father and grandfather who lived to make the children in his family laugh.

         I told Martinez I was interested in why he had murdered so many people and how he had gotten away with it. I told him that I was curious, too, about how he could kill without remorse, sometimes, it seemed, even with relish, and at the same time be so generous toward his family.

         He paused for a moment, and then he laughed ruefully. “It’s a long story,” he said.

         From behind bars, he sat for numerous phone interviews and then arranged for me to review an astonishing document—a four-hundred-page memoir in his careful, round-lettered handwriting. It is by turns a sickening account of cold-blooded murder and a moving tale of family bonds. Martinez wants to be entertaining, and he often is. But he does not hide the fact that he is brutally, remorselessly violent.

         His story also follows the sweep of nearly a half century of Central Valley history—the epic grape strikes of the 1960s and 1970s, the rise of drug cartels in the 1980s, the anti-immigrant sentiment of the 1990s, and the growing opportunities for political, economic, and social change of the 2000s.

         As I read his account of his life and studied the police reports of his murders, as I sat with members of his family and the families of his victims, I came to believe that Martinez’s improbable thirty-five-year run of murder and mayhem reflects a far more widespread injustice.

         The Devil’s Harvest is the tale of Jose Martinez’s reign of terror. But it is also the story of a community and how the institutions that were supposed to protect that community failed again and again—as they do in many places across the United States.

         Some lives count more than others, and nothing reveals this as starkly as death.

      

   


   
      
         
            Part One

            Murder for Hire

            1980

         

         
             

            Sgt. Christal Derington, Tulare County Sheriff’s Department: First of all, I hear you have a new one?

            Jose Martinez: Yeah, I forgot about him.

            Derington: What was his name?

            Martinez: I don’t know his name.… I got that one when he was going to work. He was driving and he had five passengers. Good thing nobody else got hurt. I shot him in the head with a .22.

         

         —Partial transcript of police interrogation,

June 19, 2013, 9:07 a.m.

      

   


   
      
         
            Chapter One

            2

         

         Jose Martinez woke up on June 13, 1980, intent on transporting himself from the crime and poverty of his childhood into a new and noble future. It was his eighteenth birthday, and he was going to mark it by joining the US Marines.

         Martinez had dreamed of being a soldier since he was a little boy, idolizing his uncles who had fought for the United States overseas. The discipline and brotherhood of the armed forces appealed to him, not to mention the status and security of being part of the greatest military in the world. To shoot and kill for country and glory—what could be better?1

         He’d spent countless hours practicing for it. Roaming the banks of the Deer Creek ditch near his stepfather’s ranch, he blasted targets, rabbits, and raccoons with the gun his stepdad had given him. He was an excellent shot. He was also a fierce and brutal fighter. Martinez had a gentle, joking disposition, with a mischievous smile that flashed easily and often across his face, lighting up his brown eyes. But his temper was vicious, especially if he felt disrespected. All this, he figured, would make him a perfect marine.

         “You should come with me,” Martinez said to his wife. She agreed, as he knew she would.2 They’d been together since he was fifteen years old, around the time he had dropped out of school to take a larger role in his stepfather’s smuggling operations running heroin across the Mexican border and up through California. Their courtship had begun—according to him; his first wife has not provided her account—when she came from Mexico to work for his mother. They dated for a while, and then “one day I told her, if she really loves me, she must elope with me.” He put her in his car and refused to let her out. Then he took her to Disneyland for their honeymoon. His wife made him feel secure and happy. He wanted her—and their toddler son—to witness this important moment. After all, the whole family was embarking on this adventure.

         When his son had been born, Martinez had held the tiny boy up, marveling at this creature he had created, and kissed him over and over again. “Son, don’t be proud of me,” he whispered. “I’m a real criminal and a drug dealer.”

         But becoming a marine was noble.

         Martinez and his family piled into his brand-new black Ford LTD—he’d paid for it in cash because the drug business was that good—and drove forty-five minutes south from their home in Tulare County to the US Marine recruitment center in Bakersfield.

         Martinez walked in and found a recruiter. “I’m here to sign up,” he said, as his wife stood beside him with their son in her arms. “I know how to shoot real good.”

         He neglected to mention something else that he thought would make him a good marine: he knew he had the nerve to kill when necessary. He had already done it once. When Martinez was sixteen, his older half sister had been raped and murdered, her body dumped on the banks of the Salton Sea, an inland desert lake in Southern California. A few weeks after the funeral, Martinez left his wife and the rest of his extended family, all reeling from grief, and drove four hours south. He brought with him a friend and an M1 carbine with a thirty-round clip and soon found the house where his sister had last been seen. Three men were inside, laughing and playing cards. “All 3 motherfuckers die,” he wrote in his memoir. It was one of his proudest moments. He had taken the powerlessness and rage of his grief and—bang-bang-bang—squeezing the trigger made him feel magically better: powerful, able to protect his family. “It feels good to take vengeance,” he explained. “It feels good to kill and the heart relaxes a bit.”

         Obviously, he couldn’t tell the recruiter about this. Instead, he said he was sure he had what it took.

         Martinez had thought about what life in the marines would be like. Ronald Reagan, California’s former governor, was just weeks away from clinching the Republican nomination for president in a campaign staked in part on restoring glory to the armed forces. In the farmworker communities of the San Joaquin Valley where Martinez had grown up, some people still bitterly recalled how Reagan had sided with growers against farmworkers during the grape strike. But Martinez didn’t pay much attention to politics. He wanted to be a fighter. Invulnerable. Fearsome. Respected. All the things farmworkers were not allowed to be. Maybe he would join the Special Forces. He might even be stationed at Camp Pendleton, the marine base near San Diego. That would be nice for his family, to live by the beach while he was overseas fighting for his country.

         It would be a real change from where they were living at the moment: Earlimart, with a population of about forty-five hundred that could swell during the harvest, was one of the poorest of the poor farmworker communities that dotted this southern end of the valley.

         Martinez’s grandmother had been the first in the family to settle here, leaving Mexico after her husband was shot dead in a dispute over a card game in the mountains of Durango. Working in the fields, she met and married a Filipino American farmworker, which enabled her and her Mexican-born children to become legal US residents and eventually citizens. Citizenship offered some small protections. You could not be deported if you complained about not being paid, for example. But farmwork was still backbreaking, often exploitive work, as sixteen-year-old Loreto, Martinez’s mother, learned when she joined his grandmother in the fields in 1959. Farmworkers were excluded from virtually all health, safety, and labor laws. They were paid as little as the market allowed, and they could be fired at will. There were no bathrooms and no clean drinking water in the fields. The bosses often treated the workers with contempt, like just another easily replaceable farm implement.3

         It had always been this way, no matter who picked the crops. Before Mexicans became the dominant workers in the fields, there had been waves of Chinese, Japanese, and Filipino farmworkers. Only when many farmworkers had been white, during the Great Depression, when hundreds of thousands of “Okies” fled the Dust Bowl, did their plight garner national attention.4

         Martinez’s mother married a man from her home village, a relative on her mother’s side who already had two girls from a first marriage. In short order, Loreto and her much older husband built a family. Martinez had an older sister born in 1960. He came along in 1962, and two more brothers and two more sisters followed.

         Sometimes, farmworkers sent their American-born children to Mexico to be cared for by relatives while they worked in the fields. When Jose Martinez was about six, he and four siblings were installed in Cosalá, Sinaloa, a cobblestoned town of pastel buildings and mango trees high in the Sierra Madre, where his parents had family. The children landed there just as the area was becoming a center of the drug world. By the mid-1970s, about 90 percent of the heroin sold in the United States came from Mexico’s Sierra Madre.5 The Martinez children had a front-row seat as the business—and its attendant violence and corruption—began to boom.6

         By the time the siblings returned to California around 1972, their parents were on the verge of divorce. Their mother, Loreto, soon after married a man named Pedro Fernandez. Their new stepfather was much better off than their father: he was not a farmworker; he was a farm labor contractor, hiring crews for farmers who needed crops planted, tended, or picked. He was also a drug smuggler, one of the biggest in the San Joaquin Valley. The family’s new home, on a ranch on the outskirts of Earlimart, was the center of Fernandez’s massive smuggling operation, frequented by many who would go on to play prominent roles in the drug trade on both sides of the border for years to come.

         Meanwhile, in the vineyards that rolled out in every direction just beyond the ranch, another larger-than-life story was taking shape. Cesar Chavez and Dolores Huerta were leading farmworkers in one of the greatest civil rights movements of the twentieth century: the epic battle to organize a farmworkers union. Chavez lived and worked out of a house in Delano just a few miles down the road from Earlimart. Born in Arizona to Mexican immigrants, he had worked the migrant farmworker circuit as a child after his family lost their land. After a decade as a community organizer, Chavez had moved to the valley in 1962, just a few years after Martinez’s mother, and he and Huerta had set out to show its poorest workers they could take on its most powerful industry. In 1965, when Filipino grape workers like Martinez’s step-grandfather went on strike, the fledgling union of Mexican Americans joined the battle. Over the next few years, the United Farm Workers transformed the strike from a local labor dispute into a global cause. Political icons like Robert Kennedy, celebrities like Joan Baez, and legions of other volunteers streamed down Highway 99, through Earlimart into Delano, to support and cover la causa. In 1965, before the strike, farmworkers earned, on average, less than $1.50 an hour. After a five-year strike and boycott, Chavez’s movement brought increased pay, job protections, and—just as crucial—a sense of dignity and power to Mexicans and Mexican Americans across the valley and beyond.7

         The change was not always easy, or always peaceful. Growers, threatened by the demands that were upending the economic and social order, used every available power to quash the rebellion, including their influence with law enforcement. With little or no provocation, the Tulare and Kern County Sheriff’s Departments marched into the fields with their batons drawn and squared off against workers in brutal clashes.8

         Martinez saw Chavez around Delano as a child and admired him. He was offended by the violence the police had unleashed on the farmworkers, most of whom, he knew, worked from dawn to dusk to put food on the table. But whatever their sympathies, the Fernandez-Martinez clan did not join Chavez’s United Farm Workers of America. After all, they were running a criminal enterprise—smuggling not just drugs but also undocumented immigrants across the border. They tried to stay out of the fray.

         Eventually, the law caught up with them anyway. One morning in the summer of 1977, a drug task force descended. Police officers emerged from the grape vineyards and invaded the property with their guns drawn. Before long they had found several stashed guns and three kilos of heroin, worth approximately $2.5 million in 1977 dollars, hidden in a bag of dog food. This raid—prompted, some said, by a tip from a person with ties to a rival drug operation—resulted in one of the largest heroin seizures to date in Central Valley history.9 Martinez’s stepfather wound up at Lompoc federal prison, and Martinez, then fifteen, wound up with a larger role in the family business.

         Obviously, Martinez wasn’t going to mention this to the military recruiter either.

         But it turned out the recruiter had a few questions in a different, equally unwelcome arena. To start: Did Martinez have a high school diploma?

         He did not. Martinez’s mother—whose own chance at an education had been derailed by pregnancy at a young age—considered schooling one of America’s greatest gifts. Some of Martinez’s younger siblings excelled in school. But Martinez had moved so many times in his childhood, from school in Mexico and then back to a four-room schoolhouse that sat in the fields not far from Earlimart, that his education had been disrupted. On top of all the skipped days and switching back and forth between English and Spanish, he often had to miss school to make drug runs for his stepfather. He missed his middle school graduation to pick up his very first heroin shipment at a Greyhound bus station.

         There was also the not insignificant matter of his temper. He fought. On the school bus. On campus. Defending his sisters’ honor or because someone pissed him off. Eventually he got suspended, then dropped out. He was only fourteen or fifteen, too young to drive legally. But far from urging him to complete his education, his stepfather gave him a 1969 Ford Galaxy and a job delivering drugs.

         Sitting there in the recruitment center in Bakersfield, Martinez told the recruiter the truth: I didn’t get past ninth grade, he admitted.

         The recruiter delivered a crushing piece of news: he’d need a high school diploma or a GED before he could enlist. The recruiter might as well have said Martinez needed a graduate degree in astrophysics. With his stepfather locked up, his entire family was depending on him to keep the drug business going. Protecting and caring for his family was what Martinez had always done, from watching out for his younger siblings in Mexico to hunting down and killing those he believed responsible for his half sister’s death. Reality hit: he could never put that aside to study for some giant test he might not even pass so that he could join the military and leave his family.

         Martinez registered for the marines anyway. “Just in case you need me,” he said. Then, he and his family drove straight to Sears, where he bought a book that the recruiter had mentioned about how to be a marine. Martinez read it so often that forty years later, he could still vividly recall bits of its instruction, such as the purpose and mechanics of simple bridge building.

         Even so, he felt his dream of becoming a marine dying inside him. As he drove home, the flat monotony of the fields stretched out in every direction, and the disappointment pushed down on him. He and his wife had a second child fast on the way. He needed a new plan.

         A few months later an opportunity presented itself. Martinez had a baby girl now, along with his little boy, and he was at home on the night of October 20, 1980, when a friend dropped by. Fall was finally coming. The grape harvest was winding down, the olives were coming in, and while the days were still hot, the nights brought a hint that winter would soon arrive.

         While his wife and children slept in the bedroom, Martinez and his friend smoked a joint, and the friend confided his problem.

         Back in Mexico, a man had raped his little sister. He needed help getting revenge. And he was willing to pay good money for it. Martinez said he didn’t ask any questions. Not who the alleged rapist was or how the friend could be so sure he was the one. Certainly not whether vigilante murder was the appropriate response. He thought of his own dead sister. He felt the rage rise up in him. And the possibilities.

      

   


   
      
         
            Chapter Two
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         A hint of light was just beginning to glow behind the mighty wall of the Sierra Nevada mountains in the east on the morning of October 21, 1980, but sunrise was still a way off. The roads were dark and peaceful at this time of day, and in the back of the car Cecilia Camacho’s brother-in-law and cousin grabbed a little more sleep before a long day picking olives.

         In the front passenger seat, Cecilia was awake. Her husband, David Bedolla, was driving, and she was keeping him company. She was twenty-one, and he was twenty-three. They were poor and undocumented, but they had big dreams and a young son back home with her parents in Mexico who was depending on them to work hard in the fields of California to build a better life for him.

         They were chatting quietly in their dark car, when suddenly they were blinded by bright headlights behind them. Then there was the roar of an engine as a vehicle sped up beside them.

         Cecilia heard loud popping noises.

         The driver’s side window shattered, and sparks flew up at them from the other car. Her husband slumped sideways onto her lap.1

         Their car careened off the road and plowed into a vineyard, hurtling through rows of vines before finally shuddering to a stop.

         It took Cecilia a moment to understand what was going on. Someone had shot at them. There were two bullets lodged in the windshield.

         Two more had hit her husband in the head. He was bleeding and gasping for air.

         Shocked and frantic, Cecilia and her husband’s brother got David out of the driver’s seat and into the backseat. Her husband’s brother, panting, started the car. They had to get David home. Or to a hospital. They had to get him somewhere.

         Then, their misfortune compounded. Their car engine sputtered out. Damaged by its off-road venture, it refused to start again.

         Desperate, Cecilia stood on the side of the road and tried to flag someone down.

         Nearly four decades later, sitting at her dining room table recounting the events of that morning, Cecilia stared into the middle distance, oblivious of her grandchildren scampering and laughing around her. She was trying to be careful, precise, to get every detail right. At times, she looked across the table, past the shrine to the Virgin, and out the window of the house she shared with her second husband and her family. Her home was comfortable and well kept—clearly the reward of decades of hard work. And yet, beyond the beautifully tended front yard, it seemed as if the shooting and its horrible aftermath were still in plain view.

         After a few long moments on the side of the road, as her husband lay gasping in the backseat, Cecilia managed to get a car to pull over. It was a couple heading to Los Angeles.

         “My husband is hurt,” Cecilia cried. “Please help us take him home.”

         Their good Samaritans assessed the situation and mentally rearranged their plans for the day. “I think you need to go to the hospital,” the man said.2

         They reached Lindsay District Hospital at about 6:30 a.m., but the small facility could not treat David. Doctors almost immediately transferred him to the Kaweah Delta Hospital in Exeter, one of the wealthiest towns in Tulare County, home to many of the farmers who owned the orange orchards that rolled across the hills.

         Cecilia found a seat in the waiting room. She was shaking. Her beautiful husband. The father of her child. Why would anyone shoot at him?

         After eighteen months of hard labor picking oranges and olives, she and David had saved nearly enough money to build a proper house back in Mexico. She couldn’t wait to go home and be reunited with her baby.

         Cecilia was from one of the poorest families in a place where everyone knew poverty: La Excusa, Puruandiro, in the state of Michoacán. Her family was so poor that she’d had to leave school after the second grade just to help her parents put food on the table.

         As she grew into her teens, she fell for green-eyed David Bedolla, two years her senior and also working the fields to help support his eleven siblings. He was handsome, but it wasn’t just that. Whereas she was serious, he was always smiling. But he had a certain gravity to him. He too knew what it was like to have to quit school to help your family, and he too wanted more than their little town could provide.

         They became a couple when she was fifteen and got married just before her nineteenth birthday, with a son already on the way. But well-paying work was hard to find. David concluded that if he wanted to make enough money to support his growing family, he would have to leave. He had family up in California, in Tulare County, in a town called Lindsay tucked into the base of scrubby foothills that rose higher and higher into the peaks of the southern Sierra Nevada mountains. Even when it was so hot down in the valley that you could burn your skin on the pavement, the tops of those mountains glinted with ice and snow.

         David set out to work there but was soon deported. Cecilia wasn’t sure of the circumstances—the important thing was he was back by her side in time for the birth of their son.

         The next time he went north, Cecilia went with him, leaving their son with her parents. They could make more money working together. Back then, the border did not present much of an obstacle. Mexican workers had been crossing for fieldwork in California and Arizona for decades. Often, they came legally, through guest-worker programs that allowed agricultural workers to enter the United States for temporary or seasonal jobs.3 But others crossed without authorization, often walking through the desert in the company of a coyote, or smuggler, or slipping through a hole cut in the chain-link border fence.

         Even if caught, the workers usually weren’t charged with a crime. The Border Patrol merely returned them to the other side of the line, where, often, they would try again. In 1977, the year Cecilia’s husband was returned to Mexico, nearly one million other people were too.4

         Cecilia and David didn’t know the finer points of US immigration policy, but they knew this: they could get across. If not on the first try, then on the second or the third. After all, David’s parents, along with several of his brothers and cousins, were already in California, as were Cecilia’s sister and at least one of her cousins. David and Cecilia knew something else: when they did get across, farmers would be only too happy to hire them and wouldn’t be asking any questions about whether they had legal permission to work.

         In January 1979, Cecilia and David made their way north, then paid a coyote $200 each to take them across “the line,” through the desert near San Luis Río Colorado, Mexico, and Yuma, Arizona. They made the run when darkness fell, racing through high grasses wet with dew. It took them a full night to walk from the Mexican side to the place where their coyote had arranged for them to be picked up. Cecilia felt anxious. Would they make it? What if everything she’d heard about crossing was wrong? Would her husband be in more trouble if he were caught again? And if they did make it across, what then? What would life in the United States be like?

         Thankfully, the crossing went smoothly. They reached the pickup spot, scrambled into the coyote’s car, and drove north out of the desert, up into the mountains, and down into the San Joaquin Valley to Lindsay.

         David had arranged for them to move into a boarding house where some relatives also rented rooms. By American standards, it was a study in poverty and deprivation. But Cecilia noticed that everything was made of wood—a step up from the rock-and-mud dwellings at home.

         They went to work harvesting oranges almost immediately. Cecilia had worked in the fields in Mexico since she was a child, but the work here was harder and so much more monotonous. You had to climb up a ladder with a fifty-pound sack around your neck and balance precariously as you pulled oranges off the branches, trying and failing not to get poked and scratched by the sharp citrus thorns. When the sack was full, you climbed down and dumped the fruit into a box. It took twelve full sacks to fill one box. And for each box the farmer paid a mere $5.

         After the oranges were done, the grapes came in. Grapes were even harder, because they ripened in summer, when the temperature in the valley often climbed up above one hundred degrees. The olive harvest followed the grapes: better weather but the same hard work. California’s landmark Agricultural Labor Relations Act of 1975 had been designed to protect field hands, establishing a right to unionize. There were also procedures for reporting abuse, such as bosses who didn’t pay what they were supposed to or tried to exploit their workers. But for people like Cecilia and David, it made little difference. If they were mistreated, whom could they tell? They were not members of Cesar Chavez’s United Farm Workers. And government inspectors certainly weren’t hanging around trying to improve working conditions. Quite the opposite: the local governments tended to side with the farmers, and everyone knew it.

         It had been this way for a long time. In 1949, historian Carey McWilliams had surveyed conditions in the Central Valley and observed, “The farm labor problem is the cancer which lies beneath the beauty, richness and fertility of the valleys of California.” The farmworker, he added, is “often disenfranchised, consistently unrepresented, and on many occasions, brutally repressed.”5 Seventy-five years before that, McWilliams pointed out, journalists from San Francisco’s Morning Chronicle had found conditions so deplorable that they observed, “In many respects…it is even worse than old time slavery.”6

         Cecilia and David were not about to agitate for change. They were undocumented. They kept a low profile. In the wider world, the national media was increasingly using words like “crisis,” “flood,” and even “invasion” to describe the arrival of immigrants from Mexico.7 Even in Tulare County, whose entire agricultural economy depended on immigrants, anti-immigrant sentiment sometimes bubbled up into open hostility—and violence. On the last Sunday afternoon in August 1980, two months before David Bedolla’s murder, an angry crowd of people had attacked two young men with branches, bottles, and knives in a park not far from where Cecilia and David lived—because they were undocumented workers, according to the local newspaper.8

         Still, Cecilia and David had no other option but to work as much as they could. They labored side by side, each dumping what they picked into the same box and then turning the boxes in at the end of the day for wages. Together, they earned about $200 per week: some went to rent and food, some they sent back home for their son, and some they saved for their future house.

         By October 1980, they had worked through two seasons of oranges and two seasons of grapes. They were almost done with their second season of olives, and then they would go home, build their house, and be with their son.

         Except Cecilia began to perceive that something strange and menacing was going on. One morning as she and David left for work at 4:45 a.m., Cecilia noticed an unfamiliar car parked across the street. “It’s just the neighbor’s new car,” David said. She didn’t believe him.

         Around this time, one of her husband’s brothers—impulsive, maybe violent; fond of alcohol, maybe drugs—showed up at the boarding house without warning. Cecilia had some inkling that the brother was involved in bad things, maybe even in the drug trade. But she didn’t ask questions—it seemed safer not to know. The brother seemed almost panicked, whispering to his parents about something urgent, then stopping the moment Cecilia walked in.

         At one point, three strangers showed up looking for David’s brother. Cecilia’s mother-in-law, not a woman to be trifled with, sent them away.

         A little while later, on the way to her sister’s house, a car again seemed to be following Cecilia and David. David stayed outside while Cecilia went in for a visit; when she returned, she found him slumped in his seat as though in despair.

         “Take care of our son,” he said. “I feel like I’m going somewhere, but I don’t know where.” He wouldn’t tell her what he meant.

         Only a few days later, on the way to work in the predawn gray, the end came at last. Now, Cecilia sat in the hospital waiting room, reeling from shock.

         After what seemed like hours but may have been only a few minutes, a police officer came to find her. Speaking perfect Spanish and wearing an intimidating frown, he introduced himself as Detective Ralph Diaz of the Tulare County Sheriff’s Department.

         Forty years later, Cecilia still can’t believe what he said to her.

         Your husband has been shot, he said. Why aren’t you crying?
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         The call came into the Tulare County Sheriff’s Department at 6:56 a.m. It was flagged as “a 217,” California penal code for assault with a deadly weapon, “believed at any time to turn into a 187”—murder. David Bedolla was the victim, and he was not expected to live much longer.

         By 7:20 a.m., Detective Sergeant Robert Byrd and Detective Ralph Diaz arrived at Kaweah Delta Hospital. Bedolla lay on a table, his naked torso studded with an IV and heart-monitor tabs, bleeding from his head while a nurse performed CPR. On his left arm, which was muscled from work in the fields, Byrd saw a single tattoo of the letter B in blue ink.

         The doctor on duty bustled by, made a quick examination, and told Byrd that nothing could be done. No surgery could save Bedolla. He was going to die.

         Byrd took the time to write a few notes about Bedolla and his possessions—he wore two black work boots, two white socks, and one pair of blue trousers, with one nickel in the right front pocket. Then he and Diaz went to find Cecilia.

         The first order of business was to correct an earlier misunderstanding. Not speaking Spanish, the officers who initially interviewed Cecilia’s brother-in-law had misunderstood the location of the shooting, thinking it was where the car had sputtered to a stop during the frantic drive to find help. So Diaz piled Cecilia into the car to find out where the bullets had actually been fired.

         They drove along country highways past the fruit stand and the gas station, until they spotted where the tire tracks ran off the road. Diaz got out of his car and took in the shattered glass littering the roadway and petering off like a trail of dusty diamonds onto the dirt shoulder. He traced the Bedolla car’s path into the vineyard, weaving through the bent and broken grapevines. Finally, Diaz spotted a baseball cap with blood on it.

         
              

         

         Martinez was back home by then. That morning, before the shooting, he and his friend had parked outside the boarding house where Cecilia and David lived and watched as they headed to work. When their car pulled out, Martinez and his friend followed them.

         Martinez watched his bullets flash into Bedolla’s car, smiling as the wounded man’s vehicle hurtled off the road into vines. He felt a surge of exhilaration. He and his friend continued north on County Road 65, “driving normal like nothing ever happened,” he would later write.

         He said a prayer that Bedolla—although he wouldn’t learn his name for decades—was dead or dying. “Or else I won’t get paid,” he later wrote. He also noted, with a small amount of satisfaction, that his bullets hadn’t hit anyone else in the car.

         But what he really cared about, he said, was that he had helped his friend achieve vengeance. Avenging rape, Martinez insisted, was the reason he had so readily agreed to the job in the first place. The rape of a sister. It was intolerable. He thought of his own sister. Maybe his friend had known that he would.

         His older half sister had been like a second mother to him, loving and protective. When she had asked him for a ride to visit a friend in Southern California, he had happily taken her there. She had been killed. He had been devastated.

         At his sister’s funeral, Martinez had stood next to his father. He had not seen him in some time.

         “I’m going to get those motherfuckers,” the son said.

         His father’s answer: “Son, let God take care of them.”

         Martinez shook his head. “Dad, God ain’t gonna do shit.”

         Before he was a killer, before he was even a drug dealer, he was—above all else—a protector of women and children, most of all those in his family.

         It had always been this way. When he and his siblings had been sent to live in Mexico, he stole food for them when there wasn’t enough. And when punishments were doled out, Jose stepped up and took the beatings meant for his siblings to spare them the pain. Martinez didn’t like to recall this—he didn’t like to dwell on the unhappy stories of his childhood—but his siblings never forgot it, and they never stopped feeling gratitude.1

         The protection continued when they returned to California, to their stepfather’s ranch. His parents’ divorce—which from the children’s perspective came suddenly—was confusing. Nothing was explained to them. One of Martinez’s younger sisters thought for years that Pedro Fernandez was actually her biological father, not her stepfather. Although her parents and her older siblings knew the truth, for whatever reason no one told her. The older children learned, at some point much later, an even more startling fact: their mother and father were not just husband and wife but also related. By some accounts, their mother had been all but forced into marriage before she was sixteen years old.2

         Their mother’s new relationship, while much happier, held its own confusions. In some ways, life on the ranch with Pedro Fernandez was a huge improvement, with more money and fantastic gifts like guns and motorcycles. But there was also the danger of Fernandez’s associates. Somewhere between thirty and sixty men worked for Martinez’s stepfather in various capacities, from picking grapes on his work crews to helping with his drug-smuggling and coyote businesses. Many lived on the ranch, in the stables and the barn. They liked to party. There was always drinking. Martinez’s sisters were dispatched to sell beer to the men. As the men drank, some of them would grab at the young girls. Sometimes they did more than grab.

         Finally, one of Martinez’s middle sisters could take no more. She, much more than her older siblings, had found a world outside the ranch and her family’s various criminal enterprises. She had fallen in love with reading and had a teacher who took an interest in her studies and her future. But the contrast between her school life and the near-weekly terror of assault by drunk men got to be too much. In despair and feeling trapped, one weekend she cut her own wrists.

         Her brother Antonio saw the marks, demanded to know what had happened, and went straight to their older brother. After that, “the molestations stopped,” the sister said.3 She didn’t know exactly what Martinez had done, only that the offending ranch hands left.

         His protective instinct was deep-seated. But according to Martinez, his sister’s murder flipped a switch in him.

         “I was a nice man until they killed my sister,” he said in one of my first conversations with him. He gave the same explanation to detective after detective. “When they raped my sister, they left her in the middle of the desert. It’s something that God doesn’t want to happen.”

         So, on that night in the fall of 1980, Martinez said, when his friend offered him the chance to kill another alleged rapist and get paid for it, he saw no need to hesitate, to ask more questions, to demand proof, or even to think too hard about it.

         The Tulare County Sheriff’s Department officials said they have no record that Bedolla ever committed sexual assault.

         
              

         

         As the sun rose higher on the morning of Bedolla’s shooting, Detective Diaz summoned officers to process the crime scene and other officers to take Cecilia to the sheriff’s substation in Porterville to sit for a more formal interview.

         Then he got in his car and went off to interview Bedolla’s family.

         The case was shaping up to be a tricky one: bullets fired into a dark car on a deserted road by an unknown assailant didn’t yield a lot of physical evidence. The crime scene likely would not tell them who had done it. Figuring that out would require understanding the victim and why someone might want him dead. Diaz hoped the victim’s family would be able to shed some light.

         Diaz had some distinct advantages as he pointed his car toward the town of Lindsay and the boarding house where the family lived. Not only did he speak Spanish, which many detectives did not, but he also knew farmworker communities intimately. He had grown up in one. Born in Tulare County to Mexican American parents, he had spent part of his childhood in the old labor camp run by the Redbanks Packing Company, amid orchards of peaches and almonds stretching out like a great green blanket north of the Tulare County town of Woodlake. His parents and his elder siblings worked in the orchards or in the packinghouse or both.

         After high school, Diaz had served in Vietnam, where he was awarded a Bronze Star for meritorious service. After a stint in the Woodlake Police Department, he landed in the Tulare County Sheriff’s Department in 1977.4

         Detective Diaz was part of the first great wave of Latino law enforcement officers in the valley.5 This integration was happening in departments up and down California, pushed by a federal mandate. In Tulare, the new Mexican American officers had been greeted with words like “wetback” and told that Mexicans were stupid.

         Detective Diaz never let on, at least not widely among his colleagues and bosses, if he was bothered by racism or disturbed when people called Mexicans stupid or wetbacks. He did, however, serve as a founding member of the Tulare County Latino Peace Officers Association, an organization that advocated for more recruitment and better treatment of Latino officers.

         As a police officer, former colleagues remembered, Diaz went above and beyond. He got to work early, always meticulously dressed—first in his uniform and, once he made detective, in a three-piece suit with the snake-skin cowboy boots favored by all members of the sheriff’s department, Anglos and Mexicans. On long nights at murder scenes, he came prepared with burritos he made at home, then wrapped in foil and packed under the hood of his car next to the engine to keep warm. A cigarette almost always dangled from his lips.

         His talents were obvious from the start and included an astonishing memory. For faces. For places. For the little details in people’s stories that shifted over time and provided clues about what they might be hiding.

         And because he was short, skinny, and unassuming, he developed a way of slipping into rooms and conversations, quietly watching until he gained his listeners’ trust or they forgot he was there and revealed more than they intended.

         The interview with the Bedolla family was no exception. Diaz left it bursting with new information.

         
              

         

         Cecilia was in the bathroom when Diaz returned to the Porterville substation. She hadn’t even come out before she realized that something had changed.

         Are you trying to escape? Detective Diaz was shouting and banging hard on the door. Open this door! Let me in!6

         Escape? What was he talking about? “Can you please wait?” Cecilia asked. “I’m using the restroom.”

         When she came out, she saw that his face was contorted with anger.

         Do you see your dead husband? Diaz asked her. Don’t you want to cry?

         “I don’t want to cry,” she answered. The enormity of what she felt was too much for mere tears.

         Do you know what just happened to your husband? he demanded. Did your lover do it?

         Cecilia started in astonishment. Her lover? She didn’t have a lover.

         Diaz told her that he had talked to her mother-in-law. And her mother-in-law had told Diaz that her son had no enemies; therefore, the only possible motive could be that Cecilia had a boyfriend and was trying to get her husband out of the way.

         Diaz was likely floating a balloon. With little physical evidence and no clear reason why anyone would want Bedolla dead, the detective was pushing on every lead he could get, however unlikely. But Cecilia didn’t know this. Waves of anxiety pulsed through her, breaking against the numb shell she had formed around her. Her mother-in-law had never liked her, had at times seemed almost jealous of her, but to suggest she had been unfaithful? And that she and some fanciful lover had conspired to kill David?

         She fought for breath. Her husband had been murdered in front of her eyes. She was twenty-one years old. She was stuck in this violent, terrifying country all by herself now. She had a toddler son at home in Mexico and no way to provide for him. And now, all of a sudden, this angry police officer was accusing her of an unspeakable crime. What was she going to do?

         Cecilia took a breath and collected herself. “I had nothing to do with this,” she told the officer. “As God is my witness.”

         And then, though she was a frightened, grief-stricken young woman in the country without permission, she mustered the ferocious courage that had allowed her to come to California to build a better life for her son and would allow her to keep going now that her husband was dead. She told the detective, “Your theory makes no sense. If I did have a lover, would I really tell him to shoot my husband while he was driving a car that I was a passenger in?”

         Diaz, she said, had no answer to that. Finally, he let her go home.
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         Cecilia returned to Mexico with her husband’s body. A hearse met them at the airport, and they set out, first across highways, then roads, and finally bumpy dirt tracks.

         She had dreamed of a joyful and triumphant return with her husband at her side and enough money to build their own house. Instead, she was coming to tell her son that there would be no house and that he no longer had a father.

         She settled into her parents’ home. It was grim. Depressed and poor, she took in other people’s washing, but it was never enough, and she went to bed each night and woke up each morning anxious that she would not be able to feed her son. It felt like her future had been stolen from her. Who had killed her husband? And why?

         Her husband’s family had also returned after the murder, and a few months after she arrived home, she was at her mother-in-law’s house. One of her husband’s brothers was also there, talking to a friend.

         “I am the one who should be dead,” she heard him say. His friend responded that the brother should be ashamed of himself.

         This brother, who had been sitting in the back of the car during the shooting. This brother, whose sudden appearance at Cecilia and David’s home a week before the murder had seemed to presage the terror and anxiety that consumed them. This brother, who, Cecilia suspected, might have been involved with drugs and who, just before the murder, had been visited by strange, angry men.

         Cecilia froze. She didn’t know what it meant, but it didn’t sound good. Still, she didn’t ask any questions or even reveal that she had overheard the conversation. She was afraid.

         At some point, she got in touch with Diaz by phone and reported what she had heard.

         What Diaz thought about the information, she never found out. She didn’t speak to him again for more than thirty years.

         
              

         

         Back in Tulare County, Detective Diaz already had more leads than anyone might know what to do with.

         There had been a second car-to-car shooting the same day Bedolla was murdered. Was that significant?

         What about the fact that Bedolla had gotten into a fight a couple of weeks before his death?

         And then there was this: two of Bedolla’s cousins—or maybe they were second cousins—had been arrested in yet another murder in Tulare County in 1978. Surely that had to be relevant?

         On November 10, about three weeks after the murder, Diaz got a strange phone call relating yet another lead, yet more suspects, yet more brutal violence. The caller said that the car Bedolla had been driving at the time of his death had recently belonged to someone else—a cousin, a brawler who had recently stabbed a man over a card game. The bullet had been intended for the cousin, not Bedolla.




OEBPS/Images/thedevil_sharvest_hctext1prev_5_online.png
The Devil’s
Harvest

A Ruthless Killer, a Terrorized
Community, and the Search for Justice

in California’s Central Valley

Jessica Garrison

5] hachette

BOOKS

New York





OEBPS/Images/discover_hachette_publisher_logo.png
=] QoaKschette





OEBPS/Images/9780316455732_cover_epub.jpg
uthless Killer, @ Terrorized
ommunity, and the Search for Justice
in California’s central Valley

"he Devil’s
Harvest

Jessica Garrison AN

senior Investigative Reporter
for BuzzFeed News

damn scary.”
w York Times pestselling author

esearched...tightly woven... [and]

“Meticulously r
—MICHAEL CONNELLY, Ne





